



# City of Tacoma Public Works Engineering

# REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS PW21-0722F DRIVER SPEED AWARENESS CAMPAIGN

Submittal Deadline: 11:00 a.m., Pacific Time, Tuesday, November 30, 2021

**Submittal Delivery:** Sealed submittals will be received as follows:

## By Email:

bids@cityoftacoma.org

Maximum file size: 35 MB. Multiple emails may be sent for each submittal

### Until further notice, public Bid Opening meetings have been cancelled.

Submittals in response to a RFP will be recorded as received. As soon as possible on the day of submittal deadline, preliminary results will be posted to <a href="https://www.tacomaPurchasing.org">www.tacomaPurchasing.org</a>.

**Solicitation Documents:** An electronic copy of the complete solicitation documents may be viewed and obtained by accessing the City of Tacoma Purchasing website at <a href="https://www.TacomaPurchasing.org">www.TacomaPurchasing.org</a>.

- Register for the Bid Holders List to receive notices of addenda, questions and answers and related updates.
- Click here to see a list of vendors registered for this solicitation.

Pre-Proposal Meeting: A pre-proposal meeting will not be held.

**Project Scope:** Development of a marketing campaign to address speeding as part of a Washington Traffic Safety Commission grant.

Estimate: \$45,000

**Paid Leave and Minimum Wage:** Effective February 1, 2016, the City of Tacoma requires all employers to provide paid leave and minimum wages, as set forth in Title 18 of the Tacoma Municipal Code. For more information visit <a href="https://www.cityoftacoma.org/employmentstandards">www.cityoftacoma.org/employmentstandards</a>.

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA Information: The City of Tacoma, in accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (Section 504) and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), commits to nondiscrimination on the basis of disability, in all of its programs and activities. Specification materials can be made available in an alternate format by emailing Gail Himes at <a href="mailto:ghimes@cityoftacoma.org">ghimes@cityoftacoma.org</a>, or by calling her collect at 253-591-5785.

#### **Federal Title VI Information:**

"The City of Tacoma" in accordance with provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, (78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C. sections 2000d to 2000d-4) and the Regulations, hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be afforded full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, national origin in consideration of award.

**Additional Information:** Requests for information regarding the specifications may be obtained by contacting Seth Hartz, Senior Buyer by email to shartz@cityoftacoma.org.

**Protest Policy:** City of Tacoma <u>protest policy</u>, located at <u>www.tacomapurchasing.org</u>, specifies procedures for protests submitted prior to and after submittal deadline.



Meeting sites are accessible to persons with disabilities. Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities can be arranged with 48 hours advance notice by calling 253-502-8468.

Form No. SPEC-040C Revised: 009/09/2020

## **Table of Contents**

SUE	BMITTAL CHECK LIST	5
1.	BACKGROUND	6
2.	MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS	6
3.	SUMMARY OF SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES	6
4.	CONTRACT TERM	7
5.	CALENDAR OF EVENTS	7
6.	INQUIRIES	8
7.	PRE-PROPOSAL MEETING	8
8.	DISCLAIMER	8
9.	EVALUATION CRITERIA	8
10.	INTERVIEWS / ORAL PRESENTATIONS	9
11.	RESPONSIVENESS	10
12.	·	
	eria	
13.	ACCEPTANCE / REJECTION OF SUBMITTALS	
14. 	ACCEPTANCE OF SUBMITTAL CONTENTS	
15.	CONTRACT OBLIGATION	
16.	STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS	
17.	INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS	
18.	PAID LEAVE	
19.	PARTNERSHIPS	
20.	COMMITMENT OF FIRM KEY PERSONNEL	
21.	AWARD	
22.	ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERABLE PROCUREMENT	
23.	EQUITY IN CONTRACTING	
24. 	PROPRIETARY OR CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION	
25.	ADDENDUMS	
26.	TECHNICAL PROVISIONS	15
App	pendix A (Signature Page, City of Tacoma Insurance Requirements)	
App	pendix B (Sample Contract)	
Ann	pendix C (Federal Provisions)	

## **SUBMITTAL CHECK LIST**

This checklist identifies items to be included with your submittal. Any submittal received without these required items may be deemed non-responsive and not be considered for award.

Submittals must be received by the City of Tacoma Purchasing Division by the date and time specified in the Request for Proposal page.

The following items make up your submittal package:	
Signature Page (Appendix A)	
Content to be Submitted in Section 12 (Items 1 – 10)	
After award, the following documents will be executed:	
Services Contract	
Certificate of Insurance and related endorsements	

#### 1. BACKGROUND

According to Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) crash data, the City of Tacoma had 158 fatal and serious pedestrian and bicyclist collisions from 2015-2019. The majority of these crashes occurred in areas of low opportunity as defined by the City of Tacoma's Equity Index. Among other challenges, low opportunity areas have more obstacles and barriers to walking and rolling. These communities have limited access to institutional or societal investments which limit quality of life. Data is not clear on the number of these collisions that were speed related, but it is assumed Tacoma data is similar to Pierce County where 29 percent of all fatal and serious collisions are speed related.

In order to bring awareness to the importance of driving the speed limit, the City of Tacoma has received grant funding from the Washington Traffic Safety Commission (WTSC) to develop and advertise a driver speed awareness campaign. Grant funding for this project is available from October 1, 2021-September 30, 2022.

The City anticipates awarding a contract to a marketing and graphic design services firm. The anticipated start date is January 2022. The campaign must be finalized by the consultant in order for the City to implement the campaign during the summer of 2022. The budget for the project is approximately \$45,000. This includes organizing and facilitating one (1) focus group, creating an awareness campaign, recommending advertising media, and designing graphics for chosen media. This also includes the cost to transcreate and translate key messaging and incorporate translated messaging into graphics (see Section 3 Summary of Scope of Services and Deliverables). This does not include the coordination and cost for media buys or print materials.

Submittals submitted and/or the selected Consultant(s) may be used for projects of similar type and scope at the sole discretion of the City for up to one year.

To learn more about the City of Tacoma, visit <a href="www.cityoftacoma.org">www.cityoftacoma.org</a>.

## 2. MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS

Selected firm must have graphic design and marketing experience with projects of similar scope and complexity in the last five years. Experience with, or sub-contracting with a firm that has experience working with focus groups is highly desired.

#### 3. SUMMARY OF SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES

It is the City's intent to select a consultant based on qualifications and abilities of the firm and key project individuals. The City of Tacoma is seeking proposals from qualified marketing and design firms to create a Driver Speed Awareness Campaign. The City of Tacoma will promote the campaign through targeted advertisements. The project goal is to increase desirable driving

habits related to speed. The target audience is vehicle drivers in Tacoma. This project is funded by the Washington Traffic Safety Commission through a grant awarded to the City and the chosen firm will be held to Federal Provisions outlined in Appendix A.

The chosen firm will utilize the <u>Positive Culture Framework (PCF)</u> from the Center for Health and Safety Culture at Montana State University as a guide to develop messaging. The framework is based on the latest research about improving health and safety and seeks to cultivate health and safety by building on shared values, beliefs, and attitudes that already exist in a culture to promote health and safety. The framework recognizes that the solutions are in the community.

The chosen firm will organize and facilitate a focus group to provide insight for messaging. Using feedback received from the focus group, the firm will develop a marketing campaign, recommend advertising media, and create graphics for the chosen advertising media. It is anticipated that billboards, bus wraps, and yard signs might be used for promotion. Creativity for spreading the messaging is welcome. Finally, the firm will also transcreate and translate the messaging into the five most spoken languages in Tacoma besides English: Vietnamese, Spanish, Russian, Khmer, and Korean. It is recognized that not all advertising media might include translated messaging. The City and firm will work together to decide what media could be translated. The chosen firm should consider cost to develop the main message or key words into the five languages.

## Project Area

Marketing will be targeted citywide with an emphasis in three areas of focus:

- Area 1 generally around Hilltop Heritage Middle School (formerly Jason Lee), Bryant K 8, Peck Field, and the 6th Avenue Business District
- Area 2 generally around Whitman Elementary, Lincoln High School, Lincoln Park, Lincoln Business District
- Area 3 generally around Fern Hill Elementary, Baker Middle School, Harmon Park, Fern Hill Business District

#### **Preliminary Timeline**

The anticipated timeline for the project is January 2022 through September 2022, which is when the grant concludes. The marketing campaign will be launched July 2022.

#### 4. CONTRACT TERM

The contract will be for a nine month period. The City reserves the right to cancel the contract for any reason, by written notice, as stipulated in the contract.

#### 5. CALENDAR OF EVENTS

This is a tentative schedule only and may be altered at the sole discretion of the City.

Contract may be issued after Public Utility Board and/or City Council approval.

The anticipated schedule of events concerning this RFP is as follows:

Publish and issue RFP:	11/10/2021
Pre-Submittal Questions:	11/15/2021
Response to Questions:	11/17/2021
Submittal Due Date:	11/30/2021
Submittal Evaluated, on or about:	12/6/2021
Interviews/presentations, on or about:	12/8/2021
Award Recommendation, on or about:	12/13/2021

#### 6. INQUIRIES

**6.1** Questions should be submitted to Seth Hartz via email to <a href="mailto:shartz@cityoftacoma.org">shartz@cityoftacoma.org</a>. Subject line to read:

PW21-0722F - Driver Speed Awareness Campaign - VENDOR NAME

- **6.2** Questions marked confidential will not be answered or included.
- **6.3** The City reserves the discretion to group similar questions to provide a single answer or not to respond when the requested information is confidential.
- **6.4** The answers are not typically considered an addendum.
- **6.5** The City will not be responsible for unsuccessful submittal of questions.
- **6.6** Written answers to questions will be posted along side the specification at tacomapurchasing.org approximately one week after the question deadline.

#### 7. PRE-PROPOSAL MEETING

**7.1** No pre-proposal meeting will be held; however, questions and request for clarifications of the specifications may be submitted as stated in the <u>inquiries</u> section.

#### 8. DISCLAIMER

The City is not liable for any costs incurred by the Respondent for the preparation of materials or a submitted in response to this RFP, for conducting any presentations to the City, or any other activities related to responding to this RFP, or to any subsequent requirements of the contract negotiation process.

#### 9. EVALUATION CRITERIA

A Selection Advisory Committee (SAC) will review and evaluate submittals. After the evaluation, the SAC may conduct interviews of the most qualified Respondents before final selection.

The relative weight of each scoring criteria is indicated in the table below.

Criteria	Max Points
Qualifications/Experience of Firm	20
Examples of Projects	20
Methodology	20
Client References	10
Fees and Charges / Method of Billing / Hourly Rates	5
Qualifications / Experience of Key Personnel	15
Sustainability	5
Equity in Contracting	5
Credit Card Acceptance	
Contract Exceptions	
Total	100

- **9.1** The SAC may select one or more respondent to provide the services required.
- **9.2** The SAC may use references to clarify information in the submittals and interviews, if conducted, which may affect the rating. The City reserves the right to contact references other than those included in the submittal.
- **9.3** A significant deficiency in any one criteria is grounds for rejection of the submittal as a whole.

#### 10. INTERVIEWS / ORAL PRESENTATIONS

An invitation to interview may be extended to Respondents based on SAC review of the written submittals. The SAC reserves the right to adjust scoring based on additional information and/or clarifications provided during interviews.

The City reserves all rights to begin contract negotiations without conducting interviews.

Respondents must be available to interview within three business days notice.

If interviews are conducted, the SAC will schedule the interviews with the contact person provided on the Signature page. Additional interview information will be provided at the time of invitation. At this time, it is anticipated that the main objective of the interview will be for the SAC to meet the project manager and key personnel that will have direct involvement with the project and hear about their relevant experience and expertise. The City does not intend to meet with firm officials unless they are to be directly involved with the project.

Following interviews, submittals will be rescored using the same criteria as in Section 12 below.

#### 11. RESPONSIVENESS

Respondents agree their submittal is valid until a contract(s) has been executed.

All submittals will be reviewed by the City to determine compliance with the requirements and instructions specified in this RFP. The Respondent is specifically notified that failure to comply with any part of this RFP may result in rejection of the submittal as non-responsive. The City reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to waive irregularities deemed immaterial.

The final selection, if any, will be that submittal which, after review of submissions and potential interviews, in the sole judgement of the City, best meets the requirements set forth in this RFP.

# 12. CONTENT TO BE SUBMITTED – This section represents 100% of the possible scoring criteria.

Submittals should be limited to a maximum of 20 pages, double-sided, or 40 pages total, excluding any required forms or resumes. All pages that exceed the specified page limit will not be part of the evaluation.

A full and complete response to each of the "CONTENT TO BE SUBMITTED" items is expected in a single location; do not cross reference to another section in your submittal.

Information that is confidential must be clearly marked and provide an index identifying the affected page number(s) and locations(s) of such identified materials. See Standard Terms and Conditions – Solicitation 1.06 for Public Disclosure: Proprietary or Confidential Information.

Respondents are to provide complete and detailed responses to all items below. Submittals that are incomplete or conditioned in any way that contain alternatives or items not called for in this RFP, or not in conformity with law, may be rejected as being non-responsive. The City will not accept any submittal containing a substantial deviation from the requirements outlined in this RFP.

Submittals should present information in a straightforward and concise manner, while ensuring complete and detailed descriptions of the respondent's/team's abilities to meet the requirement of this RFP. Emphasis will be on completeness of content. The written submittals should be prepared in the sequential order as outlined below.

The City reserves the right to request clarification of any aspect of a firm's submittal, or request additional information that might be required to properly evaluate the submittal. A firm's failure to respond to such a request may result in rejection of the firm's submittal. Firms are required to provide responses to any request clarification within two (2) business days.

Requests for clarification or additional information shall be made at the sole discretion of the City. The City's retention of this right shall no way diminish a Proposer's responsibility to submit a submittal that is current, clear, complete and accurate.

## 12.1 Qualifications/Experience of Firm – 20 points

Describe your company's ability to provide the services as outlined in Section 3 Summary of Scope and Deliverables and Section 26 Technical Provisions.

## 12.2 Examples of Projects – 20 points

In the fields below, describe three projects similar in scope and complexity to this project's scope of work.

- 1. Project 1
- 2. Project 2
- 3. Project 3

## 12.3 Methodology - 20 points

Describe the methodology your company will utilize to provide the services and produce the deliverables outlined in Section three (3).

### 12.4 Client References - 10 points

Provide two client references able to verify the firm's overall expertise for this type of work. The references must have worked with the firm within the last five years. Provide complete information such as name of company, contact person, address, phone number, and email address.

- 1. Reference 1
- 2. Reference 2

## 12.5 Fees and Charges / Method of Billing / Hourly Rates – 5 points

Provide the method of billing, hourly rates, and proposed budget by deliverable.

## 12.6 Qualifications / Experience of Key Personnel – 15 points

List key personnel that will handle the project. The personnel listed must be committed to this project for the expected term of the agreement. Include a brief bio or resume outlining the experience of the key personnel that will be involved.

#### 12.7 Sustainability – 5 points

Provide information on your company's commitment to the environment. Include your sustainability statement and current practices.

#### 12.8 Equity in Contracting – 5 points

Is your firm, or the firm you are partnering with, certified with Washington State for any of the below categories (select all that apply)? Selecting any item below will award all points for this category.

☐ Combination Business Enterprise (CBE)
☐ Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE
☐ Minority Business Enterprise (MBE)

☐ Minority/Women Business Enterprise (MWBE)
□ Small Business Enterprise (SBE)
$\square$ Socially and Economically Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (SEDBE)
☐ Women Business Enterprise (WBE)

### 12.9 Credit Card Acceptance - 0 points

Provide a statement regarding your ability to meet the City's credit card requirements(below) as well as identifying your reporting capabilities (Level I, II, or III). This information is not a consideration in the evaluation process.

## 12.10 Contract Exceptions - 0 points

Do you take exceptions to any of the City of Tacoma's Standard Terms and Conditions?

#### 13. ACCEPTANCE / REJECTION OF SUBMITTALS

Respondents are advised that the City reserves the right to cancel award of this Contract at any time before execution of the Contract by both parties if cancellation is deemed to be in the City's best interest. In submitting a Submittal, Respondents agree that the City is not liable for any costs or damages for the cancellation of an award.

The City reserves the right and holds at its discretion the following rights and options:

- To waive any or all informalities
- To award one or more contracts
- To not award a contract
- To issue subsequent solicitation

#### 14. ACCEPTANCE OF SUBMITTAL CONTENTS

The Submittal contents of the successful Respondent will become contractual obligations if a contract ensues.

#### 15. CONTRACT OBLIGATION

The selected Respondent(s) will be expected to execute a contract with the City. As part of the negotiation process, Respondents may propose amendments to the contract, but the City, at its sole option, will decide whether to open discussion on each proposed amendment and determine the final contract to be used. At a minimum, any contract will incorporate the terms and conditions contained herein.

#### 16. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

City of Tacoma Standard Terms and Conditions apply.

#### 17. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

Successful proposer will provide proof and maintain the insurance coverage in the amounts and in the manner specified in the City of Tacoma Insurance Requirements document (Appendix A) applicable to the services, products, and deliverables provided under the RFP. The City of Tacoma Insurance Requirements document is fully incorporated into the RFP by reference.

#### 18. PAID LEAVE

Effective February 1, 2016, the City of Tacoma requires all employers to provide Paid Leave and Minimum Wage, as set forth in Title 18 of the Tacoma Municipal Code. For more information visit <a href="http://www.cityoftacoma.org/employmentstandards">http://www.cityoftacoma.org/employmentstandards</a>.

#### 19. PARTNERSHIPS

The City will allow firms to partner in order to respond to this RFP. Respondents may team under a Prime Respondent's submittal in order to provide responses to all sections in a single submission; however, each Respondent's participation must be clearly delineated by section. The Prime Respondent will be considered the responding vendor and the responsible party at contract award. All contract negotiations will be conducted only with the Prime Respondent. All contract payments will be made only to the Prime Respondent. Any agreements between the Prime Respondent and other companies will not be a part of the agreement between the City and the Prime Respondent. The City reserves the right to select more than one Prime Respondent.

#### 20. COMMITMENT OF FIRM KEY PERSONNEL

The Respondent agrees that key personnel identified in its submittal or during contract negotiations as committed to this project will, in fact, be the key personnel to perform during the life of this contract. Should key personnel become unavailable for any reason, the selected Respondent shall provide suitable replacement personnel, subject to the approval of the City. Substantial organizational or personnel changes within the agency are expected to be communicated immediately. Failure to do so could result in cancellation of the Contract.

#### 21. AWARD

After the Respondent(s) is selected by the SAC and prior to award, all other Respondents will be notified via email by the Purchasing Division.

Once a finalist (or finalists) has been selected by the Selection Advisory Committee, contract negotiations with that finalist will begin, and if a contract is successfully negotiated, it will, if required, be submitted for final approval by the Public Utility Board and/or City Council.

#### 22. ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERABLE PROCUREMENT

In accordance with the City's Sustainable Procurement Policy, it is the policy of the City of Tacoma to encourage the use of products or services that help to minimize the environmental

Request for Proposal Template Revised: 07/21/2021

Specification No. PW21-0722F

and human health impacts of City Operations. Respondents are encouraged to incorporate environmentally preferable products or services that have a lesser or reduced effect on human health and the environment when compared with competing products or services that serve the same purpose. This comparison may consider raw materials acquisition, products, manufacturing, packaging, distribution reuse, operation, maintenance or disposal of the product or service.

The City of Tacoma encourages the use of sustainability practices and desires any awarded contractor(s) to assist in efforts to address such factors when feasible for:

- Reduction of pollutant releases
- Toxicity of materials used
- Waste generation
- Greenhouse gas emissions, including transportation of materials and services
- Recycle content
- Comprehensive energy conservation measures
- Waste manage reduction plans
- Potential impact on human health and the environment

#### 23. EQUITY IN CONTRACTING

The City of Tacoma is committed to encouraging firms certified through the <u>Washington State</u> <u>Office of Minority and Women's Business Enterprise</u> to participate in City contracting opportunities.

#### 24. PROPRIETARY OR CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

The Washington State Public Disclosure Act (RCW 42.56 et seq.) requires public agencies in Washington make public records available for inspection and copying unless they fall within the specified exemptions contained in the Act, or are otherwise privileged. Documents submitted under this RFP shall be considered public records and, with limited exceptions, will be made available for inspection and copying by the public.

Information that is confidential or proprietary must be clearly marked. Further, an index must be provided indicating the affected page number(s) and location(s) of all such identified material. Information not included in said index will not be reviewed for confidentiality or as proprietary before release.

#### 25. ADDENDUMS

In the event it becomes necessary to revise any part of this RFP, an addendum will be issued and notification will be sent to all who are registered for the bid holder's list. Failure to acknowledge addendum(s) on the required Signature Page may result in a submittal being deemed non-responsive by the City.

#### 26. TECHNICAL PROVISIONS

## Task 1 – Organize and Facilitate Focus Group

- At a minimum, deliverables shall include:
  - o Focus group agenda
  - o Presentation and discussion materials
  - Meeting notes
  - o A summary of key findings

## Task 2 – Develop Marketing Campaign and Create Graphics

- At a minimum, deliverables shall include:
  - o Draft and final messaging
  - o Draft and final graphics

#### Task 3 – Recommend Advertising Media

- At a minimum, deliverables shall include a Campaign Plan that recommends:
  - Media mix
  - Community distribution channels

#### Task 4 – Translation and Transcreation Select Materials

 at a minimum, deliverables shall include transcreation and thorough review of messaging and select graphics

## APPENDIX A

## **SIGNATURE PAGE**

# CITY OF TACOMA PUBLIC WORK ENGINEERING

All submittals must be in ink or typewritten, executed by a duly authorized officer or representative of the bidding/proposing entity, and received and time stamped as directed in the **Request for Proposals page near the beginning of the specification**. If the bidder/proposer is a subsidiary or doing business on behalf of another entity, so state, and provide the firm name under which business is hereby transacted.

## REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS SPECIFICATION NO. PW21-0722F DRIVER SPEED AWARENESS CAMPAIGN

The undersigned bidder/proposer hereby agrees to execute the proposed contract and furnish all materials, labor, tools, equipment and all other facilities and services in accordance with these specifications.

The bidder/proposer agrees, by submitting a bid/proposal under these specifications, that in the event any litigation should arise concerning the submission of bids/proposals or the award of contract under this specification, Request for Bids, Request for Proposals or Request for Qualifications, the venue of such action or litigation shall be in the Superior Court of the State of Washington, in and for the County of Pierce.

## **Non-Collusion Declaration**

The undersigned bidder/proposer hereby certifies under penalty of perjury that this bid/proposal is genuine and not a sham or collusive bid/proposal, or made in the interests or on behalf of any person or entity not herein named; and that said bidder/proposer has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any contractor or supplier on the above work to put in a sham bid/proposal or any person or entity to refrain from submitting a bid/proposal; and that said bidder/proposer has not, in any manner, sought by collusion to secure to itself an advantage over any other contractor(s) or person(s).

Bidder/Proposer's Registered Name	Signature of Person Authorized to Enter Da into Contracts for Bidder/Proposer	ite
Address		
	Printed Name and Title	
City, State, Zip		
	(Area Code) Telephone Number / Fax Number	
E-Mail Address		
	State Business License Number in WA, also known as UBI (Unified Business Identifier) Number	
E.I.No. / Federal Social Security Number Used on Quarterly Federal Tax Return, U.S. Treasury Dept. Form 941	iii WA, also known as obi (onlined business identifier) Number	
,	State Contractor's License Number (See Ch. 18.27, R.C.W.)	
E-Mail Address for Communications		
ddendum acknowledgement #1	#2 #3 #4 #5	

THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND RETURNED WITH SUBMITTAL.

Form No. SPEC-080A Revised: 06/01/2021 The Contractor (Contractor) shall maintain at least the minimum insurance set forth below. By requiring such minimum insurance, the City of Tacoma shall not be deemed or construed to have assessed the risk that may be applicable to Contractor under this Contract. Contractor shall assess its own risks and, if it deems appropriate and/or prudent, maintain greater limits and/or broader coverage.

#### 1. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

The following General Requirements apply to Contractor and to Subcontractor(s) of every tier performing services and/or activities pursuant to the terms of this Contract. Contractor acknowledges and agrees to the following insurance requirements applicable to Contractor and Contractor's Subcontractor(s):

- 1.1. City of Tacoma reserves the right to approve or reject the insurance provided based upon the insurer, terms and coverage, the Certificate of Insurance, and/or endorsements.
- 1.2. Contractor shall not begin work under the Contract until the required insurance has been obtained and approved by City of Tacoma.
- 1.3. Contractor shall keep this insurance in force during the entire term of the Contract and for Thirty (30) calendar days after completion of all work required by the Contract, unless otherwise provided herein.
- 1.4. Insurance policies required under this Contract that name "City of Tacoma" as Additional Insured shall:
  - 1.4.1. Be considered primary and non-contributory for all claims.
  - 1.4.2. Contain a "Separation of Insured provision and a "Waiver of Subrogation" clause in favor of City of Tacoma.
- 1.5. Section 1.4 above does not apply to contracts for purchasing supplies only.
- 1.6. Verification of coverage shall include:
  - 1.6.1. An ACORD certificate or equivalent.
  - 1.6.2. Copies of all endorsements naming the City of Tacoma as additional insured and showing the policy number.
  - 1.6.3. A notation of coverage enhancements on the Certificate of Insurance shall not satisfy these requirements actual endorsements must be submitted.
- 1.7. Liability insurance policies, with the exception of Professional Liability and Workers' Compensation, shall name the City of Tacoma and its officers, elected officials, employees, agents, and authorized volunteers as additional insured.
  - 1.7.1. No specific person or department should be identified as the additional insured.
  - 1.7.2. All references on certificates of insurance and endorsements shall be listed as "City of Tacoma".
  - 1.7.3. The City of Tacoma shall be additional insured for both ongoing and completed operations using Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CG 20 10 04 13 and CG 20

37 04 13 or the equivalent for the full available limits of liability maintained by the Contractor irrespective of whether such limits maintained by the Contractor are greater than those required by this Contract and irrespective of whether the Certificate of Insurance describes limits lower than those maintained by the Contractor.

- 1.8. Contractor shall provide a Certificate of Insurance for each policy of insurance meeting the requirements set forth herein when Contractor provides the signed Contract for the work to City of Tacoma. Contractor shall provide copies of any applicable Additional Insured, Waiver of Subrogation, and Primary and Non-contributory endorsements. Contract or Permit number and the City Department must be shown on the Certificate of Insurance.
- 1.9. Insurance limits shown below may be written with an excess policy that follows the form of an underlying primary liability policy or an excess policy providing the required limit.
- 1.10. Liability insurance policies shall be written on an "occurrence" form, except for Professional Liability/Errors and Omissions, Pollution Liability, and Cyber/Privacy and Security
- 1.11. If coverage is approved and purchased on a "Claims-Made" basis, Contractor warrants continuation of coverage, either through policy renewals or by the purchase of an extended reporting period endorsement as set forth below.
- 1.12. The insurance must be written by companies licensed or authorized in the State of Washington pursuant to RCW 48 with an (A-) VII or higher in the A.M. Best's Key Rating Guide www.ambest.com.
- 1.13. Contractor shall provide City of Tacoma notice of any cancellation or non-renewal of this required insurance within Thirty (30) calendar days.
- 1.14. Contractor shall not allow any insurance to be cancelled or lapse during any term of this Contract, otherwise it shall constitute a material breach of the Contract, upon which City of Tacoma may, after giving Five (5) business day notice to Contractor to correct the breach, immediately terminate the Contract or, at its discretion, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connection therewith; with any sums so expended to be repaid to City of Tacoma by Contractor upon demand, or at the sole discretion of City of Tacoma, offset against funds due Contractor from City of Tacoma.
- 1.15. Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of all premiums, deductibles and self-insured retentions, and shall indemnify and hold the City of Tacoma harmless to the extent such a deductible or self-insured retained limit may apply to the City of Tacoma as an additional insured. Any deductible or self-insured retained limits in excess of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000) must be disclosed and approved by City of Tacoma Risk Manager and shown on the Certificate of Insurance.
- 1.16. City of Tacoma reserves the right to review insurance requirements during any term of the Contract and to require that Contractor make reasonable adjustments when the scope of services has changed.

- 1.17. All costs for insurance shall be incidental to and included in the unit or lump sum prices of the Contract and no additional payment will be made by City of Tacoma to Contractor.
- 1.18. Insurance coverages specified in this Contract are not intended and will not be interpreted to limit the responsibility or liability of Contractor or Subcontractor(s).
- 1.19. Failure by City of Tacoma to identify a deficiency in the insurance documentation provided by Contractor or failure of City of Tacoma to demand verification of coverage or compliance by Contractor with these insurance requirements shall not be construed as a waiver of Contractor's obligation to maintain such insurance.
- 1.20. If Contractor is a State of Washington or local government and is self-insured for any of the above insurance requirements, a certification of self-insurance shall be attached hereto and be incorporated by reference and shall constitute compliance with this Section.

#### 2. CONTRACTOR

As used herein, "Contractor" shall be the Supplier(s) entering a Contract with City of Tacoma, whether designated as a Supplier, Contractor, Vendor, Proposer, Bidder, Respondent, Seller, Merchant, Service Provider, or otherwise.

#### 3. SUBCONTRACTORS

It is Contractor's responsibility to ensure that each subcontractor obtain and maintain adequate liability insurance coverage. Contractor shall provide evidence of such insurance upon City of Tacoma's request.

## 4. REQUIRED INSURANCE AND LIMITS

The insurance policies shall provide the minimum coverages and limits set forth below. Providing coverage in these stated minimum limits shall not be construed to relieve Contractor from liability in excess of such limits.

## 4.1 Commercial General Liability Insurance

Contractor shall maintain Commercial General Liability Insurance policy with limits not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) each occurrence and Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000) annual aggregate. The Commercial General Liability Insurance policy shall be written on an Insurance Services Office form CG 00 01 04 13 or its equivalent. Products and Completed Operations shall be maintained for a period of three years following Substantial Completion of the Work related to performing construction services.

This policy shall include product liability especially when a Contract solely is for purchasing supplies. The Commercial General Liability policy shall be endorsed to include:

4.2 A per project aggregate policy limit, using ISO form CG 25 03 05 09 or an equivalent endorsement.

#### 4.3 Commercial (Business) Automobile Liability Insurance

Contractor shall maintain Commercial Automobile Liability policy with limits not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) each accident for bodily injury and property damage and bodily injury and property damage coverage for owned (if any), non-owned, hired, or leased vehicles.

Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance shall be written using ISO form CA 00 01 or equivalent. Contractor must also maintain an MCS 90 endorsement or equivalent and a CA 99 48 endorsement or equivalent if "Pollutants" are to be transported.

## 4.4 Workers' Compensation

4.4.1 Contractor shall comply with Workers' Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the State of Washington, as well as any other similar coverage required for this work by applicable federal laws of other states. The Contractor must comply with their domicile State Industrial Insurance laws if it is outside the State of Washington.

## 4.5 Employers' Liability Insurance

Contractor shall maintain Employers' Liability coverage with limits not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) each employee, One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) each accident, and One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) policy limit.

#### 4.6 Media Liability Insurance

Contractor shall maintain Media Liability coverage with limits not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) each claim and One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) aggregate. Coverage shall include but not be limited to defamation, disparagement, libel, slander, invasion of privacy, infringement of title, slogan, trademark, trade name, trade dress, service mark or service name, infringement of copyright and plagiarism.

## 4.7 Other Insurance

Other insurance may be deemed appropriate to cover risks and exposures related to the scope of work or changes to the scope of work required by City of Tacoma. The costs of such necessary and appropriate Insurance coverage shall be borne by Contractor.

Insurance Requirements
Template Revised 10/3/2019

Spec/Contract Number: PW21-0722F

Page 4 of 4

## APPENDIX B

## CONTRACT

Resolution No. Contract No.

This Contract is made and entered into effective this \_\_\_\_\_ day of ,20 , ("Effective Date") by and between the City of Tacoma, a Municipal Corporation of the State of Washington ("City"), and legal name of Supplier including type of business entity ("Contractor").

That in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations hereinafter set forth the Parties hereto agree as follows:

- I. Contractor shall fully execute and diligently and completely perform all work and provide all services and deliverables described herein and in the items listed below each of which are fully incorporated herein and which collectively are referred to as "Contract Documents":
  - 1. Specification No. Enter Spec Number and Enter Spec Title together with all authorized addenda.
  - 2. Contractor's submittal (or specifically described portions thereof) dated Enter Submittal Date submitted in response to Specification No. Enter Spec Number and Enter Spec Title.
  - 3. Describe with specific detail and list separately any other documents that will make up the contract (fee schedule, work schedule, authorized personnel, etc.) or any other additional items mutually intended to be binding upon the parties.

Delete this highlighted sentence, paragraph II and sub-bullets #1 and #2 if there are no additional attachments to the contract (attachments would be things other than a specific, contract, or bonds).

- II. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms and conditions contained in this document entitled Contract and any terms and conditions contained the above referenced Contract Documents the following order of precedence applies with the first listed item being the most controlling and the last listed item the least controlling:
  - 1. Contract
  - 2. List remaining Contract Documents in applicable controlling order.
- III. The Contract terminates on xxxxx. [May remove if not applicable]
- IV. The total price to be paid by City for Contracts full and complete performance hereunder may not exceed:
  - \$ , plus any applicable taxes.
- V. Contractor agrees to accept as full payment hereunder the amounts specified herein and in Contract Documents, and the City agrees to make payments at the times and in the manner and upon the terms and conditions specified. Except as may be otherwise provided herein or in Contract Documents Contractor shall provide and bear the expense of all equipment, work and labor of any sort whatsoever that may be required for the transfer of materials and for constructing and completing the work and providing the services and deliverables required by this Contract.
- VI. The City's preferred method of payment is by ePayables (Payment Plus), followed by credit card (aka procurement card), then Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT) by Automated Clearing House (ACH), then check or other cash equivalent. CONTRACTOR may be required to have the capability of accepting the City's ePayables or credit card methods of payment. The City of Tacoma will not accept price changes or pay additional fees when ePayables (Payment Plus) or credit card is used. The City, in its sole discretion, will determine the method of payment for this Contract.
- VII. Failure by City to identify a deficiency in the insurance documentation provided by Contractor or failure of City to demand verification of coverage or compliance by Contractor with these insurance requirements shall not be construed as a waiver of Contractor's obligation to maintain such insurance.
- VIII. Contractor acknowledges, and by signing this Contract agrees, that the Indemnification provisions set forth in the controlling Contract Documents, including the Industrial Insurance immunity waiver (if applicable), are totally and fully part of this Contract and, within the context of the competitive bidding laws, have been mutually negotiated by the Parties hereto.

Supplies\_PurchasedServices\_PW Template Revised: 06/21/2019

- IX. Contractor and for its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns, does hereby agree to the full performance of all the requirements contained herein and in Contract Documents.
- X. It is further provided that no liability shall attach to City by reason of entering into this Contract, except as expressly provided herein.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have accepted and executed, as of the Effective Date stated above, which shall be Effective Date for bonding purposes as applicable.

CITY OF TACOMA:	CONTRACTOR:	
Ву:	By:	

#### (City of Tacoma use only - blank lines are intentional)

Director of Finance:
City Attorney (approved as to form):
Approved By:

## APPENDIX C

#### **APPENDIX C - FEDERAL PROVISIONS**

The following provisions are required to be incorporated into any contract funded by the Washington Traffic Safety Commission (WTSC):

#### 33. BUY AMERICA ACT

The SUB-RECIPIENT will comply with the Buy America requirement (23 U.S.C. 313) when purchasing items using federal funds. Buy America requires the SUB-RECIPIENT to purchase only steel, iron, and manufactured products produced in the United States, unless the Secretary of Transportation determines that such domestically produced items would be inconsistent with the public interest, that such materials are not reasonably available and of a satisfactory quality, or that inclusion of domestic materials will increase the cost of the overall project contract by more than 25 percent. In order to use federal funds to purchase foreign produced items, the WTSC must submit a waiver request that provides an adequate basis and justification, and which is approved by the Secretary of Transportation.

#### 34. DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION

Instructions for Lower Tier Certification

- 34.1. By signing this Agreement, the SUB-RECIPIENT (hereinafter in this section referred to as the "lower tier participant") is providing the certification set out below and agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 CFR part 180 and 23 CFR part 1300.
- 34.2. The certification in this section is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was entered into. If it is later determined that the lower tier participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies available to the federal government, the department or agency with which this transaction originated may pursue available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment.
- 34.3. The lower tier participant shall provide immediate written notice to the WTSC if at any time the lower tier participant learns that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances.
- 34.4. The terms covered transaction, debarment, suspension, ineligible, lower tier, participant, person, primary tier, principal, and voluntarily excluded, as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and Covered Transactions sections of 2 CFR part 180.
- 34.5. The lower tier participant agrees by signing this Agreement that it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by NHTSA.
- 34.6. The lower tier participant further agrees by signing this Agreement that it will include the clause titled "Instructions for Lower Tier Certification" including the "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion Lower Tier Covered Transaction," without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions, and will require lower tier participants to comply with 2 CFR part 180 and 23 CFR part 1300.
- 34.7. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a lower tier covered transaction that it is not proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each participant may, but is not required to, check the List of parties Excluded from Federal Procurement and Non-procurement Programs.

- 34.8. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of business dealings.
- 34.9. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 33.5.of these instructions, if a participant in a covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, the department or agency with which this transaction originated may disallow costs, annul or terminate the transaction, issue a stop work order, debar or suspend you, or take other remedies as appropriate. Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion – Lower **Tier Covered Transactions**
- 34.10. The lower tier participant certifies, by signing this Agreement, that neither it nor its principals are presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency. 34.11. Where the lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such participant shall attach an explanation to this Agreement.

## 35. THE DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE ACT OF 1988 (41 U.S.C. 8103)

35.1. The SUB-RECIPIENT shall:

- 35.1.1. Publish a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the workplace, and shall specify the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such prohibition. 35.1.2. Establish a drug-free awareness program to inform employees about the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; the SUB-RECIPIENT's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace; any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and the penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug violations occurring in the workplace.
- 35.1.3. Make it a requirement that each employee engaged in the performance of the grant be given a copy of the statement required by paragraph 34.1.1. of this section.
- 35.1.4. Notify the employee in the statement required by paragraph 34.1.1. of this section that, as a condition of employment under the grant, the employee will abide by the terms of the statement, notify the employer of any criminal drug statute conviction for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than five days after such conviction, and notify the WTSC within 10 days after receiving notice from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
- 35.1.5. Take one of the following actions within 30 days of receiving notice under paragraph 34.1.3. of this section, with respect to any employee who is so convicted: take appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including termination, and/or require such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program

approved for such purposes by a federal, state, or local health, law enforcement, or other appropriate agency.

35.1.6. Make a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through implementation of all of the paragraphs above.

## 36. FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ACT (FFATA)

In accordance with FFATA, the SUB-RECIPIENT shall, upon request, provide WTSC the names and total compensation of the five most highly compensated officers of the entity, if the entity in the preceding fiscal year received 80 percent or more of its annual gross revenues in federal awards, received \$25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from federal awards, and if the public does not have access to information about the compensation of the senior executives of Request for Proposal

Template Revised: 07/21/2021

Specification No. PW21-0722F

the entity through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

#### **37. FEDERAL LOBBYING**

- 37.1. The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:
- 37.1.1. No federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.
- 37.1.2. If any funds other than federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions.
- 37.1.3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including sub-contracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grant, loans, and cooperative agreements), and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.
- 37.2. This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than \$10,000 and not more than \$100,000 for each such failure.

## 38. NONDISCRIMINATION (Title VI, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.)

- 38.1. During the performance of this Agreement, the SUB-RECIPIENT agrees:
- 38.1.1. To comply with all federal nondiscrimination laws and regulations, as may be amended from time to time.
- 38.1.2. Not to participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by any federal non-discrimination law or regulation, as set forth in Appendix B of 49 CFR Part 21 and herein.
- 38.1.3. To permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as required by the WTSC, USDOT, or NHTSA.
- 38.1.4. That, in the event a SUB-RECIPIENT /funding recipient fails to comply with any nondiscrimination provisions in this contract/funding Agreement, the WTSC will have the right to impose such contract/agreement sanctions as it or NHTSA determine are appropriate, including but not limited to withholding payments to the SUB-RECIPIENT /funding recipient under the contract/agreement until the SUB-RECIPIENT /funding recipient complies, and/or cancelling, terminating, or suspending a contract or funding agreement, in whole or in part.
- 38.1.5. To insert this clause, including all paragraphs, in every sub-contract and subagreement and in every solicitation for a sub-contract or sub-agreement that receives federal funds under this program.

#### 39. POLITICAL ACTIVITY (HATCH ACT)

The SUB-RECIPIENT will comply with provisions of the Hatch Act (5 U.S.C. 1501-1508), which limit the political activities of employees whose principal employment activities are funded in whole or in part with federal funds.

#### 40. PROHIBITION ON USING GRANT FUNDS TO CHECK FOR HELMET USAGE

The SUB-RECIPIENT will not use 23 U.S.C. Chapter 4 grant funds for programs to check helmet usage or to create checkpoints that specifically target motorcyclists. This Agreement does not include any aspects or elements of helmet usage or checkpoints, and so fully complies with this requirement.

#### 41. STATE LOBBYING

None of the funds under this Agreement will be used for any activity specifically designed to urge or influence a state or local legislator to favor or oppose the adoption of any specific legislative proposal pending before any state or local legislative body. Such activities include both direct and indirect (e.g., "grassroots") lobbying activities, with one exception. This does not preclude a state official whose salary is supported with NHTSA funds from engaging in direct communications with state or local legislative officials, in accordance with customary state practice, even if such communications urge legislative officials to favor or oppose the adoption of a specific pending legislative proposal.